FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/14/20 17 9:38 AM

95374-1

SUPREME COURT NO	
NO. 74733-9-I	
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	
Respondent,	
V.	
ARTHUR THOMAS,	
Petitioner.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY	
The Honorable Jeffrey M. Ramsdell, Judge The Honorable Hollis Hill, Judge	
PETITION FOR REVIEW	

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122

(206) 623-2373

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Arthur Thomas asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in section B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision¹ in <u>State v. Arthur Thomas</u>, filed November 20, 2017 ("Opinion" or "Op."), which is appended to this petition.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The jury at the appellant's first trial left blank a special verdict form as to a firearm sentence enhancement. Following a second trial addressing only the firearm allegation, the jury found the appellant was armed with a firearm during commission of the crime. The court then sentenced him on the underlying crime as well as the firearm enhancement.

Where, however, the superior court lacked authority to empanel a second jury to retry the appellant solely on the firearm allegation, should the firearm sentence enhancement be vacated?

¹ The State moved to publish the opinion on December 1, 2017. As of the date of filing, the Court of Appeals has not ruled on the motion.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE²

The State charged Arthur Thomas with the first degree assault of Bruce Golphenee under two alternative theories. CP 35-37; see RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a) (assaults another with a firearm, any deadly weapon, or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death); RCW 9A.36.011(1)(c) (assaults another and inflicts great bodily harm).

The State also alleged that Thomas was armed with a firearm during the commission of the crime. CP 35; RCW 9.94A.533(3) (providing for additional term of incarceration if accused person was armed with a firearm, as that term is defined in RCW 9.41.010).

The allegation was based on a July 2014 shooting outside a Bank of America located in Seattle's Central District. See 2RP 50-51, 56 (trial on firearm enhancement). Thomas punched Golphenee, a bank security guard, and reached for his gun. 2RP 60-61; 3RP 225. The men then struggled for control of the gun. 2RP 61; 3RP 227. In the process, Golphenee was shot twice, and he also sustained other injuries.³ 2RP 61-62; 4RP 381. Once

² This petition refers to the verbatim reports as follows: 1RP - 12/1 and 12/2/15; 2RP - 12/3/15; 3RP - 12/7/15; 4RP - 12/8/15; 5RP - 12/9/15; 6RP - 12/10/15; 7RP - 1/15/16; and 8RP - 10/29 and 11/6/15 (first trial verdicts and hearing between trials). Volumes 1-7 are consecutively paginated.

³ For example, Golphenee's ankle was fractured in the struggle. 4RP 278, 280.

Thomas gained control of the gun, however, he shot himself in the face. 2RP 62-63. Both men survived the ordeal. 3RP 248, 250.

A jury could not agree on the first degree assault charge but convicted Thomas of the lesser degree crime of second degree assault. CP 91, 107, 109-10; 8RP 1-20; see RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) (reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm). The trial court instructed the jury to leave the special verdict form blank if it could not reach a unanimous verdict on the firearm allegation. CP 95. The jury left the form blank. CP 111; 8RP 19.

Rather than proceeding to sentencing on second degree assault, the State moved for the court to hold a second trial on the firearm enhancement alone. 8RP 29-30. Thomas objected on the ground that it was unclear on which basis the jury convicted him of second degree assault—indeed, the jury might have convicted him based on the ankle injury— and therefore retrial on the enactment would violate due process. 8RP 32-33, 38-39. The objection was overruled. See generally 8RP 29-43 (discussion of State's theory, accepted by trial court, that assault was a continuing course of conduct).

Following a seven-day jury trial re-litigating the details of the underlying incident,⁴ the jury answered "yes" to the firearm special verdict. CP 123.

The court sentenced Thomas to 42 months of incarceration, including a 36-month firearm sentence enhancement. CP 144-51.

Thomas appealed, arguing that based on this Court's decision in State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 469-70, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007) the trial court lacked the authority to empanel a jury to retry Thomas solely on a firearm allegation. The Court of Appeals disagreed, stating in part that, "Thomas has failed to establish that the trial court lacked the authority to empanel a second jury, his claim must be denied." Op. at 6.

Thomas now asks this Court to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.

E. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) AND (b)(4) BECAUSE IT CONFLICTS WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT, INDICATES A CONFLICT BETWEEN DIVISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, AND INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with this Court's decision

⁴ The original trial, in comparison, lasted 10 days. CP 175-97.

in <u>Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 469-70, as well as a Division Two decision addressing the reach of "<u>Blakely-fix</u>" legislation. Moreover, this case—which could affect sentencing in any case in which a jury deadlocks on a weapon enhancement—involves a potentially far-reaching issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

As a preliminary matter, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the argument was not procedurally barred. Op. at 3. For example, "[i]n the context of sentencing, established case law holds that illegal or erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal." State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). "[A] sentencing error can be addressed for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5 even if the error is not jurisdictional or constitutional." In re Pers. Restraint of Fleming, 129 Wn.2d 529, 532, 919 P.2d 66 (1996) (citing State v. Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 543, 919 P.2d 69 (1996)).

When a sentence has been imposed for which there is no authority in law, appellate courts have "the power and the duty" to correct the erroneous sentence upon its discovery. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Carle</u>, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33-34, 604 P.2d 1293 (1980). The appropriate remedy is reversal of the erroneous, void portion of the sentence. <u>State v. Eilts</u>, 94 Wn.2d 489, 496, 617 P.2d 993 (1980), <u>overruled by statute on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Barr</u>, 99 Wn.2d 75, 658 P.2d 1247 (1983).

1. <u>Under this Court's *Pillatos* decision, the trial court lacked authority to empanel a sentencing jury to consider the firearm enhancement, and the sentence must be vacated.</u>

The Court of Appeals held "Thomas has failed to establish that the trial court lacked the authority to empanel a second jury, his claim must be denied." Op. at 6. This curiously-phrased assertion turns the proper analysis upside-down. "Fixing of penalties or punishments for criminal offenses is a legislative function[.]" State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 180, 713 P.2d 719, 718 P.2d 796 (1986) (quoting State v. Mulcare, 189 Wash. 625, 628, 66 P.2d 360 (1937)), quoted in State v. Nuñez, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012). It is the State, not Thomas, who must establish the trial court had authority to empanel a freestanding enhancement jury and sentence him to a firearm enhancement.

"Trial courts lack inherent authority to empanel sentencing juries.

Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d at 469-70. Pillatos was issued after the United States

Supreme Court's decision in Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.

Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed.2d 403 (2004). In Blakely, the Court held that

Washington's system for imposing exceptional sentences violated the Sixth

Amendment, and that aggravating factors justifying such sentences must be proved to the trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

In response to <u>Blakely</u>, the legislature enacted former RCW 9.94A.537 (Laws of 2005, ch. 68, §1), known as the "<u>Blakely</u> fix," to bring

chapter 9.94A RCW, the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), into compliance with <u>Blakely</u>. The <u>Blakely</u> fix authorized trial courts to empanel juries to consider aggravating factors listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3) supporting exceptional sentences. Thereafter, in <u>Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d 459, this Court upheld the <u>Blakely</u> fix.

But, in doing so, this Court reiterated its previous holdings that trial courts do not have inherent authority to empanel sentencing juries. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 469-70 (citing State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 151-52, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), abrogated on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006); State v. Martin, 94 Wn.2d 1, 8, 614 P.2d 164 (1980)). The Hughes court, for example, had stated that "[t]his court will not create a procedure to empanel juries on remand to find aggravating factors because the legislature did not provide such a procedure.... To create such a procedure out of whole cloth would be to usurp the power of the legislature." Hughes, 154 Wn.2d at 515-52. In Martin, this Court refused to imply a "special sentencing provision" that

⁵ This Court held that, moreover, the <u>Blakely</u> fix statute applied only to cases pending trial before its effective date. <u>Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 470-74. In response to this portion of <u>Pillatos</u>, the legislature again amended the SRA, expressly authorizing courts to empanel juries to decide aggravating factors "in all cases that come before the courts for trial or sentencing, regardless of the date of the original trial or sentencing." Laws of 2007, ch. 205, §1 (statement of legislative intent).

would allow the death penalty to apply to those who pleaded guilty, in the absence of any statutory provision allowing a jury to be empaneled following such a guilty plea. 94 Wn.2d at 7-8.

Although <u>Pillatos</u> upheld the <u>Blakely</u> fix, that legislation contains no provision related to firearm enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533. Thus, under <u>Pillatos</u> and the authority cited therein, the trial court lacked authority to empanel a sentencing jury in Thomas's case. As a result, the firearm enhancement in this case must be reversed. <u>Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 466, 480-81. The Court of Appeals contravened this Court's decision in holding to the contrary. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

2. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, subsequent case law does not authorize the trial court to empanel a jury to consider the firearm enhancement.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, later cases do not authorize a freestanding jury trial on a firearm enhancement. <u>Pillatos</u> has not been overruled in this respect and remains the controlling authority. <u>See Agostini v. Felton</u>, 521 U.S. 203, 237, 117 S. Ct. 1997, 138 L. Ed. 2d 391 (1997) (if a higher court's precedent has direct application, yet appears to rest on reasoning rejected in some other line of cases, the lower courts should follow the case that directly controls).

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the State's assertion that RCW 9.94A.825 supplied the authority for empanelment of a second jury. That statute provides:

In a criminal case wherein there has been a special allegation and evidence establishing that the accused or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime, the court shall make a finding of fact of whether or not the accused or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime, or if a jury trial is had, the jury shall, if it find[s] the defendant guilty, also find a special verdict as to whether or not the defendant or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime.

RCW 9.94A.825 (emphasis added). As the Court recognized, the statue "arguably can be read as requiring the jury that finds the defendant guilty to also make the special verdict finding." Op. at 3.

But the Court of Appeals then erroneously relied on <u>State v. Reyes-Brooks</u>, 165 Wn. App. 193, 202-07, 267 P.3d 465 (2011), <u>review granted</u>, <u>cause remanded</u>, 175 Wn.2d 1020, 289 P.3d 625 (2012) to conclude that Thomas could, nonetheless, be retried on the firearm enhancement. Op. at 4-5.

The Court of Appeals' reliance on <u>Reyes-Brooks</u> is misplaced for at least two reasons. First, the case was overruled following this Court's overruling of itself in the <u>Bashaw-Nuñez</u> line of cases, discussed below. Second, and more crucially, the statute that Reyes-Brooks relies on to hold

jury empanelment is permitted—the <u>Blakely</u> fix statute itself—is patently inapplicable here. The Court of Appeals erred in relying on it. Indeed, Division Two and another panel of the same division of the Court of the Appeals found to the contrary.

In <u>Reyes-Brooks</u>, the Court of Appeals reversed a firearm enhancement based on a purported error under <u>State v. Bashaw</u>, 169 Wn.2d 133, 147, 234 P.3d 195 (2010) (holding unanimity not required on special verdict as to sentence enhancement, and that giving jury special verdict instruction stating to the contrary constituted error), <u>overruled by Nuñez</u>, 174 Wn.2d 707.

The Court determined, however, that following vacation of the enhancement on remand, a jury could be empaneled to again consider the enhancement. Reyes-Brooks, 165 Wn. App. at 206. According to the Court, RCW 9.94A.537 supplied the authority to do so. Reyes-Brooks, 165 Wn. App. at 206.

After this Court's <u>Pillatos</u> decision, the <u>Reyes-Brooks</u> Court noted, the legislature amended RCW 9.94A.537 to allow trial courts to impanel juries for resentencing in cases that had previously been decided. The amended statute provides that

[i]n any case where an exceptional sentence above the standard range was imposed and where a new sentencing hearing is required, the superior court may impanel a jury to consider any alleged aggravating circumstances listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3), that were relied upon by the superior court in imposing the previous sentence, at the new sentencing hearing.

RCW 9.94A.537(2). The Court determined that the broad language of this provision encompassed firearm enhancements under RCW 9.94A.533 as well as the aggravating circumstances listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3). Reves-Brooks, 165 Wn. App. at 206.6 But see State v. McNeal, 156 Wn. App. 340, 353, 231 P.3d 1266 (2010) (Division Two case stating that "[t]he plain language of RCW 9.94A.537(2) . . . authorizes a resentencing court to impanel a jury *only* when the alleged aggravating circumstance is listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3)."). Moreover, another panel of Division One considering a Bashaw challenge also held to the contrary, observing that RCW 9.94A.537 explicitly responded to Blakely and "reveal[ed] nothing about the legislature's intent concerning retrial in these circumstances." State v. Ryan, 160 Wn. App. 944, 950, 252 P.3d 895 (2011), rev'd on other grounds sub nom. Nuñez, 174 Wn.2d 701.

⁶ The Court also stated that under RCW 9.94A.537(4) a jury other than the one impaneled for the original trial may consider an aggravating circumstance at resentencing: "Evidence regarding any facts supporting aggravating circumstances under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a) through (y) shall be presented to the jury during the trial of the alleged crime, unless the jury has been impaneled solely for resentencing[.])." Reves-Brooks, 165 Wn. App. at 205 (emphasis supplied by Court).

Reves-Brooks was, however, reversed by this Court following this Court's reversal of <u>Bashaw</u> in <u>Nuñez</u>, 174 Wn.2d 707. On remand from this Court, the Court of Appeals simply affirmed Reyes-Brooks's sentence. <u>State v. Reves-Brooks</u>, noted at 171 Wn. App. 1028 (2012) (unpublished opinion).

Putting aside that case's checkered procedural history, however, a close reading of the "<u>Blakely-fix</u>" statute reveals that, even under the overly broad reading adopted in <u>Reyes-Brooks</u>, RCW 9.94A.537 still would not permit jury empanelment in this case.

The meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute is derived from its plain language alone. State v. Keller, 143 Wn.2d 267, 276, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1130 (2002). Courts must assume the legislature means exactly what it says. State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P. 3d 792 (2003) (quoting Davis v. Dep't of Licensing, 137 Wn.2d 957, 964, 977 P.2d 554 (1999)).

Next, by its plain language, RCW 9.94A.537 simply does not apply to a RCW 9.94A.533 sentence enhancement. Rather, it applies only to aggravating circumstances listed in RCW 9.94A.535(3). McNeal, 156 Wn. App. at 353 (Division Two case).

But even if it did apply to RCW 9.94A.533 enhancements in some circumstances, by its plain language, RCW 9.94A.537 does not apply in this

case. RCW 9.94A.537 applies to cases "where an exceptional sentence above the standard range was imposed and where a new sentencing hearing is required." RCW 9.94A.537(2) (emphasis added). The jury deadlocked in this case, so no exceptional sentence was ever imposed. Thus, the statute plainly does not apply. Reyes-Brooks does not provide support for the result reached by the Court of Appeals in this case.

Here, the Court of Appeals also relied on State v. Thomas, 166 Wn.2d 380, 208 P.3d 1107 (2009) (Thomas II) to conclude that a jury could be empaneled to consider the firearm enhancement. Op. at 5. But, as with Reyes-Brooks, Thomas II did not overrule the general rule set forth in Pillatos.

Review of that case's procedural history is necessary. In <u>State v. Thomas (Thomas I)</u>, this Court reversed Covell Thomas's death penalty sentence due to instructional error on the RCW 10.95.020⁷ aggravating factors. 150 Wn.2d 821, 876, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). This Court remanded for "a new trial on the aggravating factors or resentencing in accordance with this opinion." <u>Id</u>. The trial court empaneled a jury, which found four aggravating factors under RCW 10.95.020. The trial court then sentenced

⁷ RCW 10.95.020 lists aggravating factors through which the State may obtain an enhanced sentence for defendants found guilty of first degree murder.

Thomas to life in prison without the possibility of parole. Thomas II, 166 Wn.2d at 385.

He again appealed his sentence, arguing that the trial court had no power to empanel a jury because chapter 10.95 RCW provided no mechanism for empanelment of a jury solely to consider the existence of aggravating factors. Thomas II, 166 Wn.2d at 392. Thomas relied in part on Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, a case relied on by Pillatos, to argue the court lacked such authority. This Court disagreed, however, noting that Hughes dealt with aggravating factors under the SRA and not the provisions pertinent to Thomas's case. Thomas II, 166 Wn.2d at 392-93.

Here, the State sought empanelment of the jury to impose a SRA firearm enhancement. As a result, <u>Hughes</u> and <u>Pillatos</u>—not <u>Thomas II</u>—control. For this reason alone, <u>Thomas II</u> is not on point and the Court of Appeals erred in relying on it.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, Op. at 5, in <u>Thomas II</u>, this Court also relied on CrR 6.1(a), which states that "[c]ases required to be tried by jury shall be so tried unless the defendant files a written waiver of a jury trial, and has consent of the court" to determine that empanelment of a jury was permitted. CrR 6.1(1). But, as the Court of Appeals also stated in this case, RCW 9.94A.825 "can be read as requiring the jury that finds the defendant guilty to also make the special verdict finding." Op. at 3. In this

respect, the Court of Appeals was correct. This Court makes every effort to harmonize conflicts between statutes and court rules. State v. Blilie, 132 Wn.2d 484, 491, 939 P.2d 691 (1997). Harmonizing the two, CrR 6.1 can be read to require a jury to be empaneled where permitted by statute, but not otherwise. The applicable statutes do not permit empanelment of a freestanding enhancement jury in this case.

For these reasons, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

3. This Court's decision in *Nuñez* does not supply the necessary authority to empanel the second jury.

Concluding its analysis, the Court of Appeals asserts that this Court's <u>Nuñez</u> decision—clarifying that a non-unanimous decision on any sentencing enhancement or aggravator is not tantamount to acquittal—will be rendered meaningless by adherence to this Court's decision in <u>Pillatos</u>.

Op. at 5.8 This line of reasoning should be rejected.

Nuñez does not address the fundamental question of whether a trial court has statutory authority, in the first instance, to empanel a freestanding sentencing jury on remand following jury deadlock. See In re Electric

⁸ This Court noted that constitutional double jeopardy principles did not bar, as a constitutional matter, retrial on an aggravating factor. Nunez, 174 Wn.2d at 718 n. 5 (citing federal and state authority holding lack of double jeopardy concerns inherent in retrial of sentencing factors). Thomas did not raise a double jeopardy challenge on appeal.

Lightwave, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 530, 541, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994) ("[Courts] do not rely on cases that fail to specifically raise or decide an issue.").

In summary, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with a controlling of decision of this Court on this important and potentially far-reaching issue. The decision also represents a conflict with Division Two on the reach of "Blakely-fix" legislation. McNeal, 156 Wn. App. at 353. This Court should, therefore, grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) and reverse the Court of Appeals.

F. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.