FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/8/2018 2:15 PM
BY SUSAN L.CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>95374</u>-/ COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74733-9-I

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ARTHUR THOMAS,

Petitioner.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

> > ORIGINAL

filed via

##

### E. ARGUMENT

For the reasons outlined below, this Court should reject the petition for review. If the court accepts review, the State requests that this Court also accept review of the court of appeals' erroneous conclusion that RCW 9.94A.825 does not provide the trial court with the authority to empanel a second jury solely to consider a firearm enhancement after the original jury is unable to agree unanimously. RAP 13.4(d).

# 1. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) governs consideration of a petition for review. It provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Thomas relies on subsection (b)(1), arguing that the court of appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <a href="State v. Pillatos">State v. Pillatos</a>, 159
Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007). However, unlike the exceptional sentencing scheme at issue in <a href="Pillatos">Pillatos</a>, this case does not involve a situation where a legislatively-created procedure directing the judge to make factual findings is found unconstitutional, and the court is later asked to imply a jury procedure "from whole cloth." <a href="See State v.">See State v.</a>
<a href="Davis">Davis</a>, 163 Wn.2d 606, 613, 184 P.3d 639 (2008) (contrasting statutes that are silent or ambiguous as to procedure with the exceptional sentencing statute's explicit directive of judicial fact-finding). Instead, the deadly weapon enhancement statute has always authorized a jury finding. <a href="State v. Recuenco">State v. Recuenco</a>, 163 Wn.2d 428, 439, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008). Because <a href="Pillatos">Pillatos</a> does not limit a trial court's ability to empanel a jury to determine a firearm enhancement, the court of appeals decision in this case does not conflict with it.

Thomas also points to RAP 13.4(b)(2), arguing that the opinion here "indicates" there is a conflict between the court of appeals'

decision in <u>State v. Reyes-Brooks</u><sup>1</sup> and its decisions in <u>State v. McNeal</u><sup>2</sup> and <u>State v. Ryan</u>.<sup>3</sup> He alleges that <u>Reyes-Brooks</u> erroneously concluded that post-<u>Pillatos</u> amendments to the exceptional sentencing statute provided the necessary authority for empaneling a jury to determine a firearm enhancement on remand, while <u>McNeal</u> and <u>Ryan</u> determined the opposite. He then insists that the court of appeals erroneously followed <u>Reyes-Brooks</u> in this case.

However, as noted by the court of appeals below, the holding of Reyes-Brooks was not exclusively grounded in the post-Pillatos amendments to the exceptional sentencing statute. Slip Op. at 5.

Rather, the court in Reyes-Brooks also relied on CrR 6.1(a) and the constitutional right to a jury trial for its conclusion that the trial court could empanel a jury to consider a firearm enhancement on remand.

165 Wn. App. at 202-03. Taking care to distinguish between the firearm enhancement aggravator at issue and the exceptional sentencing provisions addressed by the legislature, the Reyes-Brooks court nonetheless found additionally persuasive the statements of intent issued by the legislature when passing the amendments to the exceptional sentencing scheme. Id. at 206. Like Reyes-Brooks, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 165 Wn. App. 193, 267 P.3d 465 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 156 Wn. App. 340, 231 P.3d 1266 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 160 Wn. App. 944, 252 P.3d 895 (2011).

court of appeals here also relied on CrR 6.1(a) and the constitutional right to a jury trial for its conclusion that the trial court could empanel a jury to consider a firearm enhancement on remand. Slip Op. at 5.

Thomas argues that the opinion in Reyes-Brooks (upon which he alleges the court of appeals improperly relied) conflicts with the holdings of McNeal and Ryan. But McNeal considered whether a trial court had the authority to empanel a jury to determine the "free-crimes" aggravator when the plain language of the statute specifically prohibited such, and instead directed that factual finding to be made by the court. 156 Wn. App. at 353-54. McNeal says nothing about the issue presented both here and in Reyes-Brooks — the court's authority to empanel a jury to retry a sentencing enhancement under a statute that explicitly permits a jury finding to begin with.

And in Ryan, the court of appeals determined that a non-unanimous verdict as to aggravating sentencing factors equated to an acquittal. 160 Wn. App. at 948. One of the arguments the State had made was that the post-Pillatos statutory amendments to the exceptional sentencing statute empowered courts to empanel juries to retry aggravating factors on remand – implying that acquittal of an aggravating circumstance must be unanimous. Id. at 950. In rejecting the State's argument, the court of appeals stated that the post-Pillatos amendments addressed only the circumstances of retrial by jury when

a judge had originally made the necessary findings, and said nothing about retrial when the jury was non-unanimous. <u>Id.</u> Thus, <u>Ryan</u> did not address the issue presented in <u>Reyes-Brooks</u>.

Moreover, the court's decision in Ryan was reversed by this Court in State v. Nunez, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012), which concluded that a jury must unanimously agree in order to reject aggravating sentencing factors. Implicit in the court's conclusion that non-unanimity does not equal an acquittal is the assumption that the enhancement can be retried. Indeed, the Nunez court specifically noted that retrial of aggravating factors outside the death penalty context is not precluded by double jeopardy. Nunez, 174 Wn.2d at 717-18.

Thomas has failed to establish that the court of appeals decision here conflicts with any decision of this Court or any other decision of the court of appeals. Thomas has failed to establish that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b).

2. THE DEADLY WEAPON STATUTE EXPLICITLY AUTHORIZES THE TRIAL COURT TO EMPANEL A SECOND JURY TO CONSIDER A FIREARM ENHANCEMENT.

The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review and argues that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the court grants review, in the interests of

justice and full consideration of the issues, this Court should also grant review of the lower court's conclusion that the deadly weapon statute itself does not provide a trial court the authority to empanel a second jury to consider a firearm enhancement on which the first jury was unable to agree. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b).

Washington law explicitly permits a jury to consider a firearm enhancement. State v. Nguyen, 134 Wn. App. 863, 870-71, 142 P.3d 1117 (2006). Specifically, RCW 9.94A.825 provides that if there is a jury trial, the jury shall determine whether the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the crime. The statute defines the term "deadly weapon" to include a "pistol, revolver, or any other firearm." Since a deadly weapon includes a firearm, it follows that the jury may be asked whether the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon that was a firearm. Nguyen, 134 Wn. App. at 870.

Here, the court of appeals agreed that RCW 9.94A.825 provides explicit authority for a trial court to submit the question of a firearm enhancement to a jury. Slip Op. at 3. However, it concluded that the deadly weapon statute "does not answer the question" of whether a second jury can be empaneled to consider the enhancement after the first jury fails to agree. But the court did not explain why, if a trial court has original authority to empanel a jury to

consider a firearm enhancement under the statute, it loses that authority simply because the first jury is unable to unanimously agree.

Moreover, the opinion states in conclusory fashion that RCW 9.94A.825 is arguably read to require the *same* jury that finds the defendant guilty of the underlying crime to also make the special verdict finding. But the deadly weapon statute cannot be read in such a prohibitory manner: "[I]f a jury trial is had, the jury shall, if it find[s] the defendant guilty, also find a special verdict as to whether or not the defendant or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime." RCW 9.94A.825. In State v. Martin, 94 Wn.2d 1, 8, 614 P.2d 164 (1980), cited by Thomas, the death penalty statute at issue explicitly required the "same jury" to determine the sentencing issue as had determined the defendant's guilt. The deadly weapon statute contains no such qualifying language.

The court of appeals here erred when it concluded that the deadly weapon statute does not explicitly authorize the empaneling of a second jury to consider a firearm enhancement after the first jury is unable to agree. Should this Court accept Thomas's petition for review, it should also accept review of that erroneous conclusion.

## F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice, the State seeks cross review of the issue in Section 2 above.